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Postscript

After Miss Simmons died in January, 1910, the Inn passed 
to her sister and her husband, who put it up for sale that 
same year. The Inn was not sold until 1914, but meanwhile 
it continued operating until 1913, when the Temperance 
Movement dealt the Inn a blow from which it never recovered. 
In March, the Inn, along with 27 other establishments in 
Chester County, lost its liquor license, putting Devon at a 
serious disadvantage compared to the 34 hotels in the county, 
and others in surrounding counties, that were still able to sell 
alcohol. According to an undated recollection by Mr. Gary 
Wheeler of Wayne, “it didn’t pay after this, and so was closed 
by the end of the year.” And things went downhill from there.

A syndicate bought the building, contents, and land in 
1914 for about $350,000. One article in the Inquirer said that 
it was “the intention of the purchasers to continue the Inn as 
a hotel,” while another less than a month later reported that 
Samuel Greenlee, representing the syndicate, declared that 
the Inn would not be used as a hotel. There was also a report 
that plans were being made for extensive renovations and an 
addition. Nothing came of any such plans, and in 1915, the Inn 
was sold at sheriff ’s sale for the outstanding debt of $108,153. 
The Inn was not completely inactive during this time, however. 
The Devon Horticultural Society held its annual exhibition on 
the veranda in June and a dahlia show in September. In 1916, 
there was another unsuccessful effort to form a stock company 
and reopen the Inn.

Then, in 1917, the Devon Manor School was chartered, 
and plans made for the old Inn to be “converted into a girls’ 
boarding school capable of accommodating two or three 
hundred pupils in the winter time and in the summer, under 
the name of Devon Manor, will blossom forth into a full-
fledged summer inn once more.” It’s unlikely that it ever 
became “a full-fledged summer inn.” There were a number of 
ads in 1920 and 1921 for Devon Manor (or sometimes Devon 
Inn) as an “apartment house,” but with reference to resort-like 
amenities such as tennis, golf course privileges, and a dining 
room with “the best of cuisine.”

The school opened in 1917 (not 1919 as reported in the 
Goshorn text), but was in financial difficulties from the start. In 
the spring of 1918, creditors filed for involuntary bankruptcy 
to prevent a sheriff ’s sale, because they feared other creditors 
would be treated preferentially. By late 1923 the school was out 
of business. A petition of involuntary bankruptcy was filed in 
November, and the sheriff attached the furniture and other 
tangible property. The nature of the real estate transactions 
surrounding the property is not clear, however. Our research 
into newspaper files shows it being sold at sheriff ’s sale in 1924, 
whereas Goshorn’s article, and one by Herb Fry state that it 
went back to the Leeches, who had acquired it in 1915.

In April of 1926, the Devon Park Hotel Corporation was 
chartered, and the hotel opened with a celebratory ball on June 
5th. A. Stanley Stanford, who had managed the Inn for several 

(LEFT) Devon Park Hotel advertisement from the 1926 Devon Horse Show 
Catalog. (ABOVE) Ad for the new Valley Forge Military Academy, Philadelphia 
Inquirer, June 19, 1928.
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years after Miss Simmons died, was Managing Director. 
Advertised features included a new Japanese Floral Grille and 
a French Terrace Garden lit by antique street lanterns. There 
was dinner dancing almost every evening, and Sam Brown’s 
Orchestra would often broadcast over different local radio 
stations direct from the hotel. Horse show related events were 
again held there.

Announcement of the establishment of Valley Forge 
Military Academy was made in May, 1928, and it opened in 
September, but the hotel had continued to advertise throughout 
the summer. The hotel must have been seriously under-
utilized during this time to have allowed school renovations 
to take place at the same time. Captain Milton G. Baker of the 
103rd Cavalry supervised the remodeling and would become 
superintendent of the school. Although most of the facilities 
listed already existed as part of the Devon Park Hotel, a June 
advertisement indicated that a new gymnasium was under 
construction. It also specified that the main building cost 
approximately $750,000.

The Academy officially opened on September 26, 1928 
with over 100 boys in residence. Sadly, on January 18th, not 
long after the students had returned from Christmas break, 
the school burned. The fire started on the fourth floor, close 
to the elevator shaft, in the early morning while the campus 
slept. An instructor was awakened by the smell of smoke and 
after unsuccessfully attempting to extinguish the fire, sounded 
the fire alarm. A bugler called the cadets to assemble, and they 
filed out of the building, mostly in their pajamas. Firemen 
from surrounding areas responded to the call, but apparently 

the scarcity of water prevented them from extinguishing the 
flames, and an hour later the roof collapsed. Fortunately no 
one was injured.

Very little remained of the former Devon Inn after the 
Valley Forge Military Academy fire, save for some masonry, 
but the last standing wall collapsed as a consequence of the 
massive Devon fireworks plant explosion in April of 1930. Five 
years later, development of the old hotel site was announced. 
It took four more years, but in 1939, it was revealed that 52 
colonial-style residences would soon be built on the site. J. 
Robert Lenhart of Downingtown had purchased the property 
from the State Banking Department, and Lenhart would also 
manage the development. The houses would be offered for sale 
in the $5990 to $9500 price range.

The heyday of the great resort hotels had long since passed. 
They blossomed in the 1880s with the increasing wealth and 
disposable income in America’s industrial centers, improved 
transportation, a new emphasis on health and outdoor activity, 
and amenities like electric lights and telephones that may have 
exceeded what some patrons had at home. But as the 20th 
century opened, the costs of modernizing and maintaining 
aging facilities were high, and the probability of profiting from 
those expenditures low: locations like Devon that had once 
been out in the country were increasingly suburbanized, thus 
diminishing their attraction to those seeking to get away from 
it all, and the socialites who had been their primary customers 
began to seek novel and more fashionable leisure pursuits, 
such as touring the new national parks in the west, or traveling 
abroad.

(CW FROM UPPER LEFT) 1920–21 Devon Manor school marketing brochure 
photo titled “Off for a Ride.” Courtesy of Radnor Historical Society; Ad for 
Devon Manor school; “General View of Tragic Devon Blast and Some 
Refugees” Philadelphia Inquirer, April 4, 1930, p. 1
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Devon Manor School 1924 — This photo, looking east, was taken by the Dallin Aerial Survey Company 
in 1924 and shows the recently bankrupt Devon Manor School for Girls and the increasingly developed 
countryside that surrounded it. The Devon Train Station is out of sight to the left (or north) of the scene 
in the photo. Courtesy of the Hagley Museum and Library.

Graduation — Although this photo is undated, we know a little about 
the Devon Manor School’s first commencement from an article in the 
Philadelphia Evening Public Ledger dated June 7, 1918. The class had 
11 graduating girls—the same number seen in the photo—and W.F. 
Slocum, former Judge of New York, was the main speaker. There were 
buglers, fifers and a flag raising ceremony honoring the American troops 
who were at war. Courtesy of the Chester County Historical Society.
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Entrance Hall — We have not found any 
photographs of the Entrance Hall from the Devon 
Inn per se, but this Devon Manor photo—with 
what possibly appears to be some school books on 
the table—seems consistent with what is described 
by the Times on May 25, 1884: “The entrance hall, 
with its carved oak ceiling, paneling and dado, and 
the great, handsome open fireplace, also of oak, 
reaching away up to the lofty ceiling, presents a 
massive appearance.”

The three photos on this page are from the 1920–
1921 Devon Manor School Marketing Booklet. 
Courtesy of Radnor Historical Society.

Bedrooms — The Devon Manor bedrooms were 
located on the second and fourth floors and were 
described as unusually large with closets and 
connecting bathrooms— exactly as they were 
portrayed years before at the Devon Inn. Many of 
the rooms also had fireplaces, and one can be seen 
in this photo.

The third floor of the Inn had bedrooms, but in 
the Devon Manor incarnation, it was used as an 
infirmary. According to the Devonian, on October 
9, 1918, there were numerous “flu” sufferers at the 
school—not surprising since the “Spanish Flu” had 
already killed 12,000 in Philadelphia by that time.

Kitchen — The School’s kitchen was described as being 
in a dedicated space in a wing of the building. The Devon 
Inn’s kitchen was in what can be presumed to be that 
same location—the bottom of the building’s “L”—and it 
seems safe to assume that very little changed there when 
the Inn transitioned to a school.

The fire at the first Devon Inn was believed to have 
started in the kitchen flue, and according to the 1918 
Devonian, the girls at Devon Manor participated in a fire 
drill on November 24. It was said that the building was 
emptied in two minutes and only a few unfortunately 
slow souls virtually “burned to a crisp.” The following 
day they repeated the drill, and the students assembled 
in “record time.”
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Former Devon Inn Burns — Flames destroyed the Valley 
Forge Military Academy in Devon on January 18, 1929. 
Efforts to bring the fire under control were fruitless. Photo 
courtesy of Stephen DiAddezio.

Building Ruins, 1929 — This photo from the TEHS 
Archives was taken after the catastrophic fire in January of 
1929 and shows the collapsed roof and sad skeletal remains 
of the gutted structure. The photographer was looking 
northeast and standing on the lawn where the VFMA cadets 
would drill and parade, and in previous years, where girls 
from Devon Manor School would have played field hockey 
and where the Devon Horse Show was held in its early years. 
The concussion from the devastating explosion at the nearby 
(in Devon about a mile away) fireworks plant on April 3, 
1930, was reported to have knocked down the wall that had 
remained after the fire.  Courtesy of Greg Prichard.

Military Squadron Review c. 1928 — Tom Goldblum of Valley Forge Military Academy and College indicates that this photo was taken of a Squadron Review 
or what is now called a Corps of Cadets on Parade. The image appears to have been taken in the late fall or winter on the southwest lawn of the former Devon 
Park Hotel. Photo courtesy of Greg Pichard.



51

Excerpted from Vol. 55 No. 4 of the Tredyffrin Easttown History Quarterly

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 ©

 2
02

5 
Tr

ed
yf

fri
n 

E
as

tto
w

n 
H

is
to

ric
al

 S
oc

ie
ty

. A
ll 

R
ig

ht
s 

R
es

er
ve

d.
 A

ut
ho

rs
 re

ta
in

 c
op

yr
ig

ht
 fo

r t
he

ir 
co

nt
rib

ut
io

ns
.

Th
is

 p
ub

lic
at

io
n 

or
 a

ny
 p

or
tio

n 
th

er
eo

f m
ay

 n
ot

 b
e 

re
pr

od
uc

ed
 o

r u
se

d 
in

 a
ny

 m
an

ne
r w

ha
ts

oe
ve

r w
ith

ou
t t

he
 e

xp
re

ss
 w

rit
te

n 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 o
f t

he
 p

ub
lis

he
r.

C
on

ta
ct

 th
e 

S
oc

ie
ty

 fo
r p

er
m

is
si

on
 to

 u
se

 a
ny

 c
on

te
nt

 in
 th

is
 p

ub
lic

at
io

n.
Th

e 
S

oc
ie

ty
 d

oe
s 

no
t a

cc
ep

t r
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 fo

r t
he

 a
cc

ur
ac

y 
of

 th
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

he
re

in
.

Devon Park Hotel Ad, 1926 — This ad for the Devon 
Park Hotel ran in the Philadelphia Inquirer on July 9, 1926. 
Weddings were added to the list of features, and rooms with 
meals started at $6 per day, much less than during the early 
and more successful yearsDevon Park Hotel, 1927 — This photo of the Devon Park Hotel was cropped from a larger 

image taken by the Dallin Aerial Survey Company on May 30, 1927. The image is looking 
southwest.  Courtesy of the Hagley Museum and Library.

1940 Residential Marketing Ad — Developer J. Robert Lenhart 
marketed his new homes in the May 12, 1940 Philadelphia Inquirer 
by noting their location on the former site of the historic Devon Inn. 
(BELOW) The exteriors of many of the houses that remain there today 
appear largely unchanged. Courtesy of Larry DeYoung.

Artifacts — Residents of the development have found many  
fragments left over from the demise and demolition of 
the Inn. This small collection of pieces of glass and metal, 
including a window sash weight, emerged from the garden 
soil in the yard of one resident, along with countless bricks.  
Photo courtesy of John O. Senior


